NUNEATON’s FIRST LOCOMOTIVE DEPOT
By Peter Lee
In 1850 a cottage industry began in Nuneaton – a small locomotive shed was erected and brought into use. It was equipped with two or three old fashioned steam engines for working the brand new branch line to Coventry. It was a modest affair employing just a few men and survived little altered for the next 28 years. The locomotive establishment at Nuneaton station would later become a major employer in the town with over 400 members of staff. But that was many years in the future. In 1850 this quiet backwater was a rural idyll hidden amongst the miry lanes amid the green fields on the outskirts of town. 
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The line traversing left to right is the Trent Valley Railway from Rugby (left) to Stafford (right) as it approaches Nuneaton station which is just off the plan to the right.  The TVR opened in 1847. The Coventry branch goes off towards the top of the plan and opened in 1850.  Leaving the TVR to the bottom of the plan is the South Leicester branch leading towards Hinckley the original section of which terminated at Hinckley in 1862 then was extended through to a junction with the Midland Railway at Wigston in 1864. The original plan which was an ink drawing on very thin tracing paper must have been made c. 1862 as it refers to the Hinckley branch only without mentioning its through route to Leicester opened two years later. On the right is a level crossing which stood where the foot tunnel is now connecting Oaston Road and the top of Wheat Street. The foot tunnel is also shown on this plan. On the right just below the road crossing is the rectangular outline of a silk ribbon factory, destroyed in a fire in the late 1960’s.  Where Nuneaton Nr. 1 signal box latterly stood until the end of steam a small cabin stood controlling a level crossing and when there were no trains passing the gates were open to let a few townsfolk through to reach the Oaston fields. The need for the box and the crossing was dispensed with when the Leicester Road bridge was constructed in 1872. A new signal cabin was erected to replace this one and to carry out the increasing number of train movements on the main line. At the same time another level crossing which took the main Nuneaton to Hinckley road was removed next to the station.  These modifications coincided with tripling the Trent Valley main line.  The original locomotive depot stood in the triangle of lines and had a turntable in front.  There was also a siding alongside  where coal wagons stood and coaling of the engines was effected by shovelling between the two. There was no mechanised coal plant in those days. The little shed was allocated three engines in 1855 and must have been the hive of inactivity as its engines were stretched in service every day to work the Coventry, then later the Leicester service. The building stood lonely on the outskirts of town.  The ground the shed occupied was owned by William Stratford Dugdale.  The land had, early in the 19th century, been occupied by a family called Nutt, whose occupancy was marked by the disturbed waterlogged ground  called “Fudgy Nutts”. When the Coventry line was built it cut through two brickyards which stood where the track to Coventry went through, the attendant clay holes alongside caused the sidings near the shed to need re-packing and additional maintenance through for its whole period of use. Ground settlement kept the permanent way staff busy.   (Author’s collection)
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The original construction plan from the 1850 plan and section of the L.N.W.R. Coventry-Nuneaton branch shows the land purchase for the line as it approaches the Trent Valley Railway running into Nuneaton station. Two sets of structures are indicated on the track bed of the Coventry line. The accompanying section to go with the plan shows these are brickyards. The nearby clay pits from which the brick clay was obtained were adjacent to the line. The triangular section on the right was purchased for the site of the locomotive shed.  (British Railways, Estates Dept. Euston) 
LOCOMOTIVE FACILITIES

The need for a locomotive to be stationed and serviced at Nuneaton was established in 1850 when the Coventry to Nuneaton branch was opened. The branch engine was provided with a single road engine house located at the junction of the line with the Trent Valley Main line in the vee of the two sets of tracks as they converged. The shed was equipped with a 35 foot diameter turntable in front which had to be negotiated to gain entrance to the building. No photographs of the structure are known to survive but from later evidence it appears to have been timber built. Construction of timber sheds of that period indicate that they were erected on low brick walls with a slate roof, and a smoke vent, (or a series of small smoke vents) running along the apex of the roof.  It was a simple affair.

When chosing a site for the shed the L.N.W.R. cleared some ground which had been previously used as  an old clay field. The area had gained the peculiar name “Fudgy Nutt’s”. The ground was soft clay of a“Fudgy” consistency and had, at one time, been occupied by a local ancient family of some status in the town by the name of “Nutt”.  This site would prove to be difficult for the railway’s operational people thereafter because of its marshy substrate. Even as late as the 1960’s the much enlarged locomotive depot yard at Nuneaton was subject to settlement and soft ground. Keeping the shed yard track work in good order and alignment was a perennial problem. It may have contributed to the curtailed operational life of this shed as it is known to have seen periods of non usage in the 1860s and 70’s. Soft ground could possibly have caused misalignment of the 35’0” turntable which first installed., When a new turntable was erected it made the shed itself useable again. 

On 12th April 1855 the chief mechanical engineer of the Southern Division of the L.N.W.R. at that time, Mr. J.E.McConnell, produced a list of allocations of engines at various steam sheds up and down the system. Nuneaton was allocated three engines. Two in steam daily and one spare. These were used mostly for local traffic on the Coventry line.  It seems two engines were enough for Coventry line work, one for passenger traffic and another for goods, shunting the various station goods yards and colliery exchange sidings, whereas Trent Valley line workings were carried out using Rugby or Stafford based engines. 

In 1862 the Hinckley branch opened and this was extended two years later to Leicester via Wigston in 1864. Mr.G.P.Neele the traffic superintendent of the L.N.W.R. recorded in his memoirs that he decided to extend the use of the Coventry & Nuneaton engine to work the traffic on the new line.   

The single road shed seems to have fallen into disuse by the late 1860’s. 
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This second plan was prepared between 1864 when the Hinckley Branch was extended and became the South Leicester (shire) line and before 1873 when the Ashby & Nuneaton Joint line included a loop which ran from the trackage at the bottom of this diagram to the South Leicester at the top. There has been a modification to the shed sidings between the two diagrams. On the right bottom is the new Cotton Mill opened in 1858 to provide employment for local people after the collapse of the silk trade in the preceding decade. The manufacture of silk ribbons was once the staple trade of the Nuneaton area employing 60% of the local population. This trade had been in decline since the 1830’s.  Increased activity in the local collieries, brickyards and quarrying had not provided sufficient work since then and the town had been in recession since then, despite opening the new railway.  (Author’s collection)

In a L.N.W.R. locomotive committee minute book an entry dated 12th October 1866. the chief mechanical engineer, John Ramsbottom, noted on a list of engines stationed at each station. There were none recorded at Nuneaton. It seems likely that the shed was out of service at that date for the reasons mentioned.

By 1870 the contractor widening the Trent Valley main line from two to three tracks at Nuneaton, (William Moss of Stafford) asked if he could rent it for 12 months as a store and as the locomotive department had no use for the place, the facility was granted for a rent of £2 per month. 

(A fondly remembered old timer with an encyclopaedic interest in old railways, who lived in Nuneaton, told me that William Moss used a decrepit old locomotive for his contracting work locally, known by the unofficial title “Moss’s Bug”. Presumably he kept it in the shed yard at Nuneaton and it became familiar to local railway enthusiasts in the 1870’s. According to official L.N.W.R. records, William Moss purchased several second hand locos for contracting work from them although we do not know which ones he used for his Trent Valley widening contract in the 1870’s.)  

On 8th October 1874 an official minute was recorded by Mr. Cawkwell in the L.N.W.R. locomotive dept. minute books that he proposed to use the shed at this station which has not been used for some time. reducing the time engines were in steam. To do this the old 35’0” turntable was to be replaced by a 42’0” by a new one. The estimated cost of £280 was approved.

On 5th October 1877 Mr. F.Webb, the chief mechanical engineer, submitted a plan to entirely rebuild the steam shed at Nuneaton station. However, the cost of demolition was fortuitously saved when a tremendous gale on 15th September 1878 blew the old wooden shed down. Two engines in the building were largely unscathed despite being smothered by roof slates, timber beams and bricks. Indicating the very lightweight construction of the shed.  No one was in the building at the time so thankfully there were no injuries reported.

Early Locomotive Allocations to Nuneaton

	Year
	Loco Nr.
	Type & Wheel Arrangement
	Primary Service
	Additional Notes/Source

	1860’s
	316
	Sharp Single converted to saddle tank 2-2-2, but acquired second hand from the Birkenhead, Lancashire & Cheshire Junction Railway in November 1860 
	Nuneaton-

Leicester branch
	Photograph extant taken by E. Houlston, in the 1860’s rescued by Gordon Webster 

(see overleaf)

	1870’s
	1913

(duplicate list)
	Sharp Single converted to saddle tank 2-2-2
	Nuneaton-Leicester branch
	Other locos of this type were also allocated to Nuneaton for this service. Source:
“Chronicles of Boulton’s sidings” Alfred Rosling Bennett

	1877-1880
	615

“Lune”
	McConnell “Small Bloomer” 2-2-2
	Nuneaton – Leicester branch
	Also used occasionally on the Ashby-Nuneaton service. Source:

The Railway Magazine

	ditto
	717

“Swift”
	ditto
	ditto
	ditto

	ditto
	978

“Mammoth”
	ditto
	ditto
	ditto
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Although we cannot be entirely sure, there is circumstantial evidence to support this as being a loco based on Nuneaton’s first engine shed. It is photographed at Hinckley station on the newly opened South Leicester branch which led from Nuneaton to Wigston (then with running powers to Leicester over the Midland Railway main line) and opened in 1864. It was reported that the South Leicester line was worked by this type of rebuild in the 1860’s and 70’s. The engine was old Nr. 21 built for the Birkenhead, Lancashire & Cheshire Junction railway by Sharp Stewart (works nr. 777 of 1851/2) which entered service on that railway in April 1854. It was acquired by the L.N.W.R. on 20th November 1860 when they acquired the interests of the B.L & C. and they then numbered it 316 and gave it the name “Prince Eugene”. The name was removed in 1862, and in 1868 it was rebuilt as a saddle tank in the form seen here. It looks in good external condition so this view might have been taken shortly after conversion. Certainly the photo was taken before April 1874 when the engine was renumbered in the duplicate list as nr. 1821. This old fashioned contraption was finally scrapped in September 1877. The train of primitive wooden coaches was a pretty typical rake of that period. The loco’s duties may have involved working both to Coventry and to Leicester, possibly using the same rolling stock for both the Coventry and Leicester services.    (Photo: Edward Houlston, Hinckley, Gordon Webster Collection)

Nuneaton’s first footplate and locomen taken from the 1851 census:

	Name
	Living at
	Age
	Occupation
	Where born

	Thomas Howard
	Oddaways Lane (now Oaston Road)
	34
	Locomotive engineer
	Sutton, Lancashire

	David Mills
	Oddaways Lane 
	32
	Engine driver
	Hampton in Arden

Warwickshire

	George Mills

(son of David)
	Oddaways Lane
	15
	Fireman
	Hampton in Arden

	George Thornton
	Wheat Lane

(now Wheat Street)
	24
	Engine cleaner
	South Kilworth

Leicestershire


(A brief commentary on the unusual roadway name – Oddaways Lane, might be appropriate. This lane is now called Oaston Road, short for Horestone, after a substantial mansion house – Horestone Grange which once stood, lonely, gaunt, mysterious across the fields a few hundred yards from here, until it burnt down in the mid 18th century in unusual circumstances. The owner at the time, or his tenant, I am not sure which, was known locally as “Oddaways” and generated an old wife’s tale which was still being talked of locally as late as the 1870’s. Although outside the scope of this article. The Grange was moated and for one hundred years thereafter its moats and the crumbling remains of its buildings stood silent, apart from the occasional attention of local builders who robbed out its useful Attleborough sandstone walls.  When the South Leicester line was put through it sliced through the centre of the site destroying any remnants of the Grange and blocking up the moats. When the L.N.W.R. was absorbed in to the L.M.S. in 1923 one of the remains of the moat was filled up with former railway company branded china from the dining rooms at Nuneaton station. This was dumped in there and the moat filled in. Some articles of L.N.W.R. china were recovered in recent years and are now in the author’s collection.)

1861 Census

	Name
	Living at
	Age
	Occupation
	Where born

	Henry Walpole
	Wheat Lane

(householder:

Charles Lomas, Guard)
	27
	Engine Driver
	Barrow on Soar, Leicestershire.

	William Baxter
	Same household
	19
	Fireman
	Hanley Green, Lancashire

	Joseph Pugh
	Bond Street
	45
	Engineman
	Overton, Cheshire 


1871 Census

	Name
	Living at
	Age
	Occupation
	Where born

	James A. Mason
	Wheat Lane
	24
	Rail Engineer (?)
	Scotland

	Joseph Clarke
	Oaston Terrace
	44
	Engine Driver
	Buckingham

	John Mawby
	Oaston Terrace
	35
	Railway Engineer (?)
	b. Ludley, Hereford?

	Henry Kerby
	Bond Street
	37
	Engine Driver
	b. Nuneaton

	Abraham Swain
	Weddington Road
	30
	Engine Driver
	b. Long Clawson, Leicestershire
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The 1887 Ordnance Survey illustrates the “new engine shed” erected in 1878. A four road affair based on a standard L.N.W.R. Webb pattern northlight roof structure. The new shed would soon be extended (1888) to increase capacity up to 8 roads filling up the space between the four road building and the Trent Valley main line.  It clearly shows the marshy or “fudgy” character of the former site with a small remnant enclosed within the triangle of lines adjacent to and the left of the shed. The shed yard incorporates part of the old clay pit.  In the centre of the map Nuneaton Cemetery also occupied the remains of an old clay pit, and the depression in the centre where wreaths are laid today is a fragment of the clay hole. By this time the loop line at the rear of the shed had been laid but was not much if at all used. This trackage was part of the Ashby & Nuneaton joint scheme, a joint venture between the L.N.W.R. and the Midland Railway and saw two sets of rails put in which were laid but soon mothballed through lack of use. It seems these were concessions provided for the Midland Railway’s benefit and were insisted on by them to help move the A&N construction act through Parliament. One loop was laid alongside the Ashby Canal which was then owned by the Midland Railway who had it in mind to close the canal and divert their coal traffic emanating from the coal pits in the Leicestershire coalfield from a junction at Stoke Golding to another adjacent to Nutts Lane, Hinckley with a junction on the L.N.W.R. South Leicester line facing towards Leicester. The loop at the rear of Nuneaton loco shed was also put in and equipped with a signal box at the Coventry line end controlling movements off and on the loop. The South Leicester end was controlled what was later to be known as Midland Junction box. It soon dawned on the railway authorities that these loops were of no real practical use for traffic purposes, and when the L.N.W.R. became entirely responsible for the tracked at the southern end of the Ashby & Nuneaton joint they lost no time in reducing their rateable value by severing them as through roads. The loop at the back of the shed did survive for many years, however, right up until the end of the shed in 1966 in fact. It was used for loco coal storage and during World War II. The turntable was repositioned at the rear of the shed yard and couple up to the loop to allow engines to escape from the shed yard in the Leicester direction cutting down some of the complications when the shed yard was filled to capacity with locos. Sometimes the shed yard became so full of engines they had to be parked in sidings around the station in order to wait their turn for using the shed, watering, coaling, maintenance and turning facilities. The loop line saw renewed importance during the war, and remained in constant use until closure to steam in June 1966.  
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A 1950’s view of the shed yard. The old shed would have stood in the extreme top left corner of the picture roughly where we can glimpse a back of the tender of the engine which stands adjacent to the Trent Valley line. In view of the concentration of locos and the train spotters trespassing in the yard it looks like this photo was taken on a Sunday possibly from a position somewhere on the coal plant.  The end of the 1878 shed building is on the extreme right. The shed was extensively rebuilt in the 1950’s. 70 years  of acrid smoke and fizzing steam from the shed’s residents had corroded the ironwork of the roof, so it became unsafe and had to be replaced. (Vic Holloway collection)

COVENTRY & NUNEATON LINE PASSENGER TIMETABLE   January 1876

Coventry to Leicester and Nuneaton

                         Monday-Saturday                                                                                                                   Sunday

	Leave
	am
	am
	am
	am
	pm
	pm
	pm
	pm
	pm
	
	am
	pm

	Coventry
	6.50
	8.15
	9.20
	10.10
	12.10
	2.55
	4.50
	6.45
	8.25
	
	9.35
	9.20

	Coundon Road
	6.55
	8.20
	9.23
	
	12.15
	3.00
	4.55
	6.50
	8.30
	
	9.40
	9.25

	Foleshill
	6.59
	8.24
	9.29
	
	12.20
	3.04
	4.59
	6.54
	8.34
	
	9.45
	9.30

	Longford & Exhall
	7.02
	8.27
	
	10.18
	12.25
	3.07
	5.02
	6.57
	8.37
	
	9.50
	9.35

	Hawkesbury

Lane
	7.05
	8.30
	9.33
	
	12.29
	3.10
	5.05
	7.00
	8.40
	
	9.54
	9.39

	Bedworth
	7.10
	8.35
	9.38
	10.24
	12.34
	3.15
	5.10
	7.05
	8.45
	
	9.59
	9.44

	Chilvers Coton
	7.15
	8.40
	
	10.30
	12.40
	3.20
	5.15
	7.10
	8.50
	
	10.05
	9.50

	Nuneaton

arrive
	7.20
	8.45
	9.45
	10.35
	12.45
	3.25
	5.20
	7.15
	8.55
	
	10.10
	9.55

	Hinckley
	8.09
	9.09
	
	10.54
	1.20
	3.39
	6.19
	8.34
	9.09
	
	10.21
	10.09

	Elmesthorpe
	8.16
	9.16
	
	11.16
	1.28
	3.46
	6.25
	
	9.21
	
	10.31
	10.16

	Narborough
	8.26
	9.26
	
	11.26
	1.37
	3.56
	6.36
	
	9.31
	
	10.41
	10.29

	Blaby
	8.31
	9.31
	
	11.31
	1.44
	4.01
	
	
	9.36
	
	10.46
	10.35

	Leicester
	8.45
	9.45
	
	11.45
	1.58
	4.15
	6.55
	
	9.50
	
	11.00
	10.45

	Leicester to Nuneaton and Coventry

                         Monday-Saturday                                                                                                                    Sunday 

	Leicester
	6.45
	8.50
	
	10.35
	11.40
	3.10
	
	4.40
	6.25
	8.15
	7.40
	5.45

	Blaby
	
	8.59
	
	10.45
	11.50
	3.20
	
	4.45
	6.35
	8.25
	7.50
	5.55

	Narborough
	
	9.04
	
	10.50
	11.55
	3.25
	
	4.50
	6.40
	8.30
	7.55
	6.00

	Elmesthorpe
	
	9.22
	
	
	12.13
	3.45
	
	5.00
	6.50
	8.40
	8.05
	6.10

	Hinckley
	7.11
	9.37
	
	11.05
	12.18
	3.49
	
	5.15
	7.00
	8.50
	8.15
	6.20

	Nuneaton

depart
	7.50
	9.40
	
	11.35
	1.16
	4.00
	5.00
	6.00
	8.30
	9.05
	8.30
	6.51

	Chilvers Coton
	7.54
	9.44
	
	11.39
	1.19
	4.04
	5.04
	
	8.34
	
	8.34
	6.44

	Bedworth
	7.59
	9.49
	
	11.44
	1.24
	4.09
	5.09
	6.08
	8.39
	9.13
	8.41
	6.51

	Hawkesbury Lane
	8.04
	9.54
	
	11.49
	1.29
	4.14
	5.14
	
	8.44
	
	8.45
	6.55

	Longford & Exhall
	8.07
	9.57
	
	11.52
	1.32
	4.17
	5.17
	
	8.47
	9.18
	8.48
	6.58

	Foleshill
	8.10
	10.00
	
	11.55
	1.35
	4.20
	5.20
	
	8.50
	9.21
	9.54
	7.04

	Coundon Road
	8.14
	10.04
	
	11.59
	1.39
	4.24
	5.24
	6.17
	8.54
	9.25
	9.00
	7.10

	Coventry
	8.20
	10.10
	
	12.05
	1.45
	4.30
	5.30
	6.22
	9.00
	9.30
	9.05
	7.15
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Section of the Coventry- Nuneaton plan approaching the


Trent Valley Railway. 
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